## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DARON D. MERRITT, :

Petitioner, :

v. : CASE NO. 96,763

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CARL S. McGINNES #230502 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Daron D. Merritt was the defendant in the trial court, appellant before the District Court of Appeal, First District, and will be referred to in this brief as "petitioner," "defendant," or by his proper name.

Reference to the record on appeal will be by use of the volume number (in roman numerals) followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

Filed with this brief is an appendix containing a copy of the district court's opinion, Merritt v. State, 739 So.2d 735 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), as well as other portions of the record pertinent to the issues raised on appeal. Reference to the appendix will be by use of the symbol "A" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

The undersigned represents this brief was prepared with Courier New, 12-point, a non-proportional font.

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information, it was alleged that petitioner, on August 11, 1997, burglarized a dwelling belonging to Cliff Collins, Jr., with intent to commit theft, contrary to Section 810.02(3), Florida Statutes (1997) (I-9-10). The prosecutor filed a Notice Of Intent To Classify Defendant As A Prison Release Re-Offender (I-11), and a Notice Of Intent To Classify Defendant As A Habitual Felony Offender (I-12).

Petitioner proceeded to a trial by jury. Clifford Collins,
Jr., testified that on August 11, 1997, he returned to his home
from a weekend in Orlando. He left 15 minutes later to attend to
a store he owns. When he returned at about 5:00 p.m., he noticed
his front door was ajar; the front door jamb was torn out and
there were pieces of wood in the foyer (III-174-178). Videotapes
and items from Collin's coat were strewn across the floor.
Collins' home had been burglarized and several items stolen.
Among the stolen items were two VCRs, a stereo system, two
watches, a gold chain with pendants, a diamond ring, and a family
mantle clock. Collins kept three guns in his house, all of which
were found together in a second bedroom. He had a box of
ammunition which he purchased 20 years ago from Sears (III-178190). Collins does not know petitioner (III-191), nor does he
personally know who burglarized his house (III-196).

Kenneth Brooke of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office, an

evidence technician, processed the scene. Brooke was able to obtain prints from the ammunition box, a jewelry box, three VHS cassette boxes, a report cover, and from a wine bottle (III-197-207).

James Coats of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office, a latent print examiner, testified prints lifted from the box of ammunition were made by petitioner (III-209-220).

At the close of the state's case, counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal, which was denied. The defense declined to put on evidence and rested (III-226-237).

During the prosecutor's summation, the following occurred:

PROSECUTOR (Mr. Pajcic): My closing, which I am going to end right now — and I am going to sit down, because I am certain that y'all have already figured out that this defendant is guilty, because that is what I believe.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: I object, Your Honor, and move for a mistrial. It is improper to suggest that.

THE COURT: Overruled. Please proceed. (III-319) (emphasis supplied).

The jury returned a verdict finding petitioner guilty as charged of burglary of a dwelling (I-52, IV-351-352).

During the sentencing process, the state proved petitioner had been convicted of armed sale of cocaine on July 3, 1990, and sale of cocaine on June 28, 1989 (I-56-63, 138). The state also presented evidence that petitioner was released from prison on

December 1, 1995 (I-65, 155-157).

Defense counsel objected to petitioner being sentenced as a prison releasee re-offender on equal protection principles, separation of powers, and since he was not given notice at the time he was released in 1995 (I-159-160, 163, 168).

The trial court deemed petitioner to be a habitual felony offender and was sentenced as such to 25 years in prison. The trial court also deemed petitioner to be a prison releasee reoffender and used that provision to impose a 15-year mandatory minimum sentence (I-77-86, 173-174).

Notice of appeal was timely filed (I-93), petitioner was adjudged insolvent (I-92), and the Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to handle the appeal.

On appeal before the District Court of Appeal, First District, petitioner raised the following three legal issues:

#### ISSUE I:

PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT DENIED APPELLANT HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

## ISSUE II:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS STATE'S NOTICE OF INTENT TO IMPOSE RELEASE REOFFENDER PUNISHMENT, SINCE SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES VIOLATES ARTICLE II, SECTION 3, CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA.

#### **ISSUE III:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS STATE'S NOTICE OF INTENT TO IMPOSE RELEASE REOFFENDER PUNISHMENT, SINCE SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES WAS ONLY APPLICABLE TO DEFENDANTS WHO ARE RELEASED AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE.

By opinion issued September 14, 1999, the district court affirmed petitioner's conviction and sentence. As to Issue I, the district court ruled "...the one alleged improper comment of the prosecutor does not merit reversal in light of the judge's instruction to the jury." Merritt v. State, 739 So.2d 735, note.

1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). Regarding the sentencing issues raised, the district court affirmed, but certified to the Court the same issue previously certified in Woods v. State, 740 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), namely:

DOES THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER PUNISHMENT ACT, CODIFIED AS SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

739 So.2d at 735 (A-1).

Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was timely filed October 14, 1999 (A-2-3). By Order Postponing Decision On Jurisdiction And Briefing Schedule, the Court ordered petitioner to file his initial brief on or before November 12, 1999 (A-4). Petitioner's initial brief follows.

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

During the trial of petitioner's case, the prosecutor

improperly injected his personal opinion that the defendant was guilty of burglary. Defense counsel objected. The objection was overruled. No cautionary instruction was given, nor was the prosecutor admonished in the presence of the jury.

On appeal before the first district, the court ruled that the one instance of improper argument did not warrant reversal in light of the instruction given by the trial court to the jury. The problem, however, is that the trial court did **not** give the jury any sort of curative instruction at the time the improper argument was made and counsel objected! In other words, the basis given by the district court for affirming, that the judge gave a curative instruction, is not only not supported by the record but is directly contrary to the record. The judge gave no curative instruction and, by sustaining the objection, in effect conveyed to the jury his approval of the prosecutor's improper argument.

The remaining three issues concern the validity of Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997), the prison releasee reoffender punishment act. In Issue II, infra, petitioner contends it was improper to sentence him under the act because he was released from prison prior to the effective date of the statute. To apply the statute to petitioner violates ex post facto principles.

Petitioner, for a single criminal offense, was sentenced both as a habitual felony offender and as a prison releasee

reoffender. Under Issue III, supra, petitioner asserts the legislature did not intend such dual punishment and, therefore, it violated double jeopardy principles to sentence him under both statutes.

Under Issue IV, *supra*, petitioner contends the prison releasee reoffender act violates concepts of separation of powers contained in our state constitution.

Petitioner realizes that one or more of the issues raised in this brief do not fall within the ambit of the certified question. However, it is well-established that once the Court obtains jurisdiction, the Court has discretion to rule on any issue presented. <a href="Trushin v. State">Trushin v. State</a>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1983). This would seem to be particularly appropriate with respect to Issue I, since it is plain that the first district did not fulfill its responsibility in ruling on that issue in the district court, as it seemingly relied upon a non-existent curative instruction to affirm.

Trushin also holds that the facial validity of a statute can be properly raised for the first time on appeal. Thus, to the extent the arguments made under Issues II, III, and IV, relating to the prison releasee reoffender act were not made below, it is proper to make them here since they are based upon the plain language of the statute.

## IV. ARGUMENT

# ISSUE I:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUSTAIN PETITIONER'S OBJECTION MADE WHEN THE PROSECUTOR, DURING SUMMATION, IMPROPERLY EXPRESSED HIS OWN OPINION ABOUT PETITIONER'S GUILT, AND ERRED FURTHER IN FAILING TO GIVE ANY SORT OF CURATIVE INSTRUCTION OR ADMONISHING THE PROSECUTOR IN THE PRESENCE OF THE JURY, THEREBY DEPRIVING PETITIONER OF HIS RIGHTS TO A FAIR TRIAL AND TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW SECURED BY ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 AND 16, CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AND AMENDMENTS V AND XIV, CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.

The prosecutor in this case was Assistant State Attorney Curry G. Pajcic. His "inartful questions" to a police officer on direct examination led to a reversal in <u>Cook v. State</u>, 714 So.2d 1132 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). In the instant case, Mr. Pajcic included an improper expression of his personal opinion in his summation:

PROSECUTOR (Mr. Pajcic): My closing, which I am going to end right now — and I am going to sit down, because I am certain that y'all have already figured out that this defendant is guilty, because that is what I believe.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: I object, Your Honor, and move for a mistrial. It is improper to suggest that.

THE COURT: Overruled. Please proceed. (III-319) (emphasis supplied).

It is noteworthy that the trial court not only failed to sustain the objection, but also gave no form of curative instruction and did not admonish Mr. Pajcic in the presence of the jury. This becomes significant in light of the fate of the issue on appeal before the district court.

On appeal, petitioner contended to the district court that Mr. Pajcic's improper argument denied him a fair trial. The district court rejected the argument for the following reason:

We find the one alleged improper comment of the prosecutor does not merit reversal *in* light of the judge's instruction to the jury.

Merritt v. State, 739 So.2d 735, note 1 (Fla. 1st DCA
1999) (emphasis supplied).

Petitioner must respectfully question the quality of "review" given his case by the district court, because the record reflects that the trial court gave no instruction in any form or in any manner at or near the time of the improper comment!

Petitioner is therefore at a loss to identify the "judge's instruction" relied upon by the district court to affirm.

It is well-settled that it is improper for a prosecutor to inject his personal opinions about the merits of a case. Ruiz v. State, 24 F.L.W. S157 (Fla. Apr. 1, 1999) and D'Ambrosio v. State, 736 So.2d 44 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). In the instant case, the district court properly characterized Mr. Pajcic's remark as improper.

In <u>Deas v. State</u>, 119 Fla. 839, 161 So. 729, 731 (1935), this Court observed:

When it is made to appear that a prosecuting officer has overstepped the bounds of that propriety and fairness which should characterize the conduct of a state's counsel in a criminal case...and contains assertions of matters not in evidence...the trial judge should not only sustain an objection at the time to such improper conduct when objection is offered, but should so affirmatively rebuke the offending prosecuting officer as to impress upon the jury the gross impropriety of being influenced by improper arguments.

See also Bertolotti v. State, 476 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1985) (where

prosecutorial misconduct is properly raised by objection, the judge should sustain the objection, give any curative instruction that may be proper, and admonish the prosecutor and call to his attention his professional duty and standards of behavior).

As noted, and contrary to the district court's opinion below, when defense counsel objected, the objection was overruled. The trial court did not give any sort of "curative" instruction and certainly did not admonish the prosecutor in the presence of the jury. Indeed, the record supports the view that the trial court placed its stamp of approval onto Mr. Pajcic's argument in the presence of the jury, by summarily overruling counsel's objection and telling Mr. Pajcic to "please proceed" with his summation.

Petitioner is seeking the Court's help in righting the injustice visited upon him by Mr. Pajcic's improper comment. He first sought the help of the trial judge, but instead the trial judge overruled his objection. He next sought the help of the district court, but that court ruled against him on the basis of an instruction that does not appear of record. Now petitioner seeks review here.

As the case against petitioner was wholly circumstantial, and the trial court in effect placed its stamp of approval upon Mr. Pajcic's improper comment, petitioner respectfully contends it cannot be demonstrated beyond a reasonable doubt that the

error in overruling counsel's objection is harmless. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 1986).

#### ISSUE II:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN APPLYING SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT, TO PETITIONER, SINCE HE WAS RELEASED FROM PRISON PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE STATUTE, THEREBY DEPRIVING HIS RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND TO NOT BE SUBJECT TO AN EX POST FACTO APPLICATION OF THE LAW SECURED BY ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 AND 10, CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AND ARTICLE X, SECTION 9, CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AS WELL AS ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 AND 10, CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.

Petitioner was released from state prison on December 1, 1995 (I-66). For a burglary offense committed August 11, 1997 (I-9-10), petitioner was sentenced per Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997), the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act (I-81). That statute took effect May 30, 1997, approximately a year and a half after petitioner's release from incarceration.

Simply put, petitioner argues the statute does not apply to those persons released from prison prior to May 30, 1997. To rule otherwise would run afoul of the *ex post facto* provisions of both the state and federal constitutions, as well as Article X, Section 9, Constitution of the State of Florida.

The statute identified offenses for which a defendant can be classified as a prison releasee reoffender. Section 775.082(8)(a)(1), Florida Statutes (1997) says that the offenses must have been committed "within 3 years of being released from a state correctional facility operated by the Department of Corrections or a private vendor."

Penal statutes must be strictly construed, and any ambiguity as to its language should be resolved in favor of the accused.

Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (1997) and State v. Wershow,

343 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1977). This so called "rule of lenity"

applies not only to interpretations of the substantive ambit of criminal prohibitions, but also to the penalties they impose.

Bifulco v. United States, 447 U.S. 381, 100 S.Ct. 2247, 65

L.Ed.2d 205 (1980).

Here, a strict construction requires a holding that the statute does not apply to petitioner because he was released from custody prior to May 30, 1997, the effective date of the statute.

Legislative history also supports appellant's position. The statute was enacted because "recent court decisions have mandated the early release of violent offenders. Chapter 97-239, Section 3, Laws Of Florida. The decision that prompted the legislature to act was Lynce v. Mathis, 519 U.S. 433, 117 S.Ct. 891, 137 L.Ed.2d 63 (1997). Lynce was decided February 19, 1997. Petitioner, who was released prior to Lynce, simply could not have been within

the class of inmates targeted by the legislature when it enacted the statute, in light of ex post facto principles.

It should also be noted that Section 944.705(6), Florida Statutes (1997), requires that persons being released from prison be provided with a written notice that the commission of certain felonies within three years of release may result in a sentence under the prison releasee reoffender act. This "Release Orientation Program" did not take effect until May 30, 1997. Thus, while the failure to notify the released inmate is not a defense, the fact that there was no requirement to provide notice until May 30, 1997, is legislative intent that persons released prior to that date are not subject to prison releasee reoffender punishment.

For these reasons, petitioner requests the Court to vacate his sentence and remand the cause with directions to strike that portion of petitioner's sentence that is based upon Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997).

#### ISSUE III:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING PETITIONER AS A HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER AND

AS A PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER FOR A SINGLE CRIMINAL OFFENSE, THEREBY DEPRIVING PETITIONER OF HIS RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND TO NOT BE TWICE PLACED IN JEOPARDY FOR THE SAME OFFENSE, SECURED BY ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 AND 16, CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AND AMENDMENTS V AND XIV, CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.

For a single conviction of burglary, the record reflects petitioner was sentenced as a habitual felony offender to 25 years in prison, and as a prison releasee reoffender for 15 years, which functions as a mandatory minimum sentence (I-77-86, 173-174). Petitioner contends this violated his right to not be placed twice in jeopardy for the same offense.

The fundamental state and federal constitutional prohibitions against being placed twice in jeopardy for the same offense are violated by the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act. The double jeopardy clause protects against multiple punishments for the same offense. North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 89 S.Ct. 2072, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (1969) and Ohio v. Johnson, 467 U.S. 493, 104 S.Ct. 2536, 81 L.Ed.2d 425 (1984). The Act is not exclusive and by its terms it would appear to be applicable to many defendants who may also be classified and sentenced as habitual offenders, habitual violent offenders, or violent career criminals. Indeed, in the instant case, petitioner was sentenced under both the Act and as a habitual felony offender.

Legislatures, not courts, prescribe the scope of punishment.

<u>Missouri v. Hunter</u>, 459 U.S. 359, 103 S.Ct. 673, 74 L.Ed.2d 535

(1983). However, a legislature is **not** presumed to intend for one to be punished twice for the same offense, unless there is a clear intent to do so. <u>Missouri v. Hunter</u>, supra and <u>Whalen v. United States</u>, 445 U.S. 684, 100 S.Ct. 1432, 63 L.Ed.2d 715 (1980).

Section 775.082(8)(c), Florida Statutes (1997) provides:

Nothing in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law.

This provision does not **expressly** state that one can be sentenced under **both** the Act **and** the habitual felony offender statute. If, as here, a particular defendant's history fits the statutory criteria for both statutes, the above provision gives the trial court an opportunity to elect one statute, or the other.

At best, Section 775.082(8)(c), Florida Statutes (1997), is susceptible of two constructions: (1) that one can be sentenced under both the Act and the habitual felony offender statute; or, (2) that the trial court has the option of selection one or the other, but not both. Since the statute is (at best) susceptible of differing constructions, this Court is required to use the construction that is most favorable to the accused. Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (1997). That construction is the second construction identified above, namely, that the sentencing

judge has the option of using the Act, or the habitual felony offender statute, but not both.

Petitioner relies on the recent decision in <u>Adams v. State</u>, 24 F.L.W. D2394 (Fla. 4th DCA Oct. 20, 1999). There, for a single burglary offense, the defendant received a 15-year sentence as a releasee reoffender, and a 30-year sentence as a habitual felony offender. On appeal, the fourth district determined the legislature did not intend such a dual punishment, and that the sentencing scheme amounted to a double jeopardy violation.

Based upon the above, petitioner requests the Court to reverse his sentence and remand with instructions to vacate the prison releasee reoffender sentence. Adams.

## ISSUE IV:

AS CONSTRUED IN WOODS V. STATE<sup>1</sup> THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT, SECTION 775.082(8) FLORIDA STATUTES, DELEGATES JUDICIAL SENTENCING POWER TO THE STATE ATTORNEY, IN VIOLATION OF THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE, ARTICLE II, SECTION 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

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