IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DARON MERRITT,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 96,763

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.___/

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

Moreover, limiting this doctrine in this manner would bring the case law into full accord with the 1980 constitutional amendment. Article V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. The current doctrine improperly allows this Court to reach an issue on which there is no conflict or certified question and is not necessarily decided to correctly answer the certified question.

Furthermore, the doctrine, as it currently exists, encourages an appellant to relitigate every issue that was raised in the district court in this Court just as this appellant is doing. This undermines judicial efficiency. In <u>Zirin v. Charles Pfizer & Co.</u>, 128 So.2d 594, 596 (Fla.1961), Justice Drew explained the rationale of this doctrine:

- 8 -

Piecemeal determination of a cause by our appellate court should be avoided and when a case is properly lodged here there is no reason why it should not then be terminated here.... "[m]oreover, the efficient and speedy administration of justice is ... promoted" by doing so. However, contrary to this Justice Drew's observation, the litigation on this issue should have terminated in the First District. While the State agrees that needless, piecemeal litigation should be avoided, this doctrine, as currently formulated, does not promote this goal. Rather, this doctrine encourages needless, additional litigation. The efficient and speedy administration of justice would be promoted more by prohibiting additional litigation regarding an issue which has been definitely resolved in the district court. However, limiting to doctrine to preliminary questions directly related to the certified or conflict issue, would end the unnecessary litigation without impeding this Court ability to fully, fairly and correctly resolve the conflict or certified issue upon which jurisdiction was based.

This Court should clarify this doctrine and hold that it has jurisdiction to decide only additional issues related to the certified question, not "extra" issues which are not central to the correct resolution of the certified question. This Court should hold that it has no jurisdiction over the prosecutor's comments issue because it is an "extra" issue in this case.

The trial court's ruling

During closing, the prosecutor argued: . . . "I am going to sit down because I am certain that y'all have already figured out that

-9-

this defendant is guilty because that is what I believe." (Vol. III 319). Defense counsel objected saying that such comments are improper. (Vol. III 319).

The presumption of correctness & burden of persuasion

A trial court's ruling is presumed correct. <u>Applegate v.</u> <u>Barnett Bank</u>, 377 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1979) (holding that, in appellate proceedings, trial court's decision is presumed correct and appellant has burden to bring forward record adequate to demonstrate reversible error). On appeal, the appellant bears the burden of persuading this Court that the trial court's ruling is incorrect. <u>Savage v. State</u>, 156 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963). The trial court's decision, not its reasoning, is reviewed on appeal. <u>Caso v. State</u>, 524 So.2d 422, 424 (Fla. 1988) (holding that a trial court's decision will be affirmed even when based on erroneous reasoning). A trial court may be "right for the wrong reason". <u>Grant v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 259, 260 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

The standard of review

A standard of review is deference that an appellate court pays to the trial court's ruling. Martha S. Davis, A Basic Guide to Standards of Judicial Review, 33 S.D. L. REV. 468 (1988). There are three main standards of review: *de novo*, abuse of discretion and competent substantial evidence test. PHILIP J. PADOVANO, FLORIDA APPELLATE PRACTICE § 9.1 (2d ed. 1997).

- 10 -

Legal questions are reviewed de novo. Under the de novo standard of review, the appellate court pays no deference to the trial court's ruling; rather, the appellate court makes its own determination of the legal issue. Elder v. Holloway, 984 F.2d 991 (9th Cir. 1993) (Kozinski, J., dissenting from the denial of a suggestion for rehearing en banc), adopted by, Elder v. Holloway, 510 U.S. 510, 516, 114 S.Ct. 1019, 1023, 127 L.Ed.2d 344 (1994) (holding the issue is a question of law, not one of "legal facts", which is reviewed de novo on appeal). Under the de novo standard of review, an appellate court freely considers the matter anew as if no decision had been rendered below. The reason for de novo review of legal questions is obvious enough: appellate courts are in a better position than trial courts to resolve legal questions because appellate courts are not encumbered by the "vital, but time-consuming, process of hearing evidence". Moreover, appellate courts see many legal issues repeatedly giving them a greater familiarity with these issues. Additionally, appellate courts have the advantage of sitting in panels where we can deliberate about legal issues which allows the appellate judges to discuss issues with each other which the trial court must decide Indeed, an appellate court's "principal mission" is alone. resolving questions of law and to refine, clarify and develop legal doctrines.

Questions of fact, in Florida, are reviewed by the competent, substantial evidence test. Under the competent, substantial evidence standard of review, the appellate court pays overwhelming

- 11 -

deference to the trial court's ruling, reversing only when the trial court's ruling is not supported by competent and substantial evidence. In Florida, appellate courts do not reweigh the factual findings of the lower tribunal, if there is any evidence to support those findings, the findings will be affirmed. When it comes to facts, trial courts have an institutional advantage. Trial courts can observe witnesses, hear their testimony, and see and touch the physical evidence. An appellate courts review of questions of fact is therefore very limited. <u>Elder v. Holloway</u>, 984 F.2d 991 (9th Cir. 1993) (Kozinski, J., dissenting from the denial of a suggestion for rehearing en banc), adopted by <u>Elder v. Holloway</u>, 510 U.S. 510, 516, 114 S.Ct. 1019, 1023, 127 L.Ed.2d 344 (1994).

Other issues are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Under the abuse of discretion standard of review, the appellate court pays substantial deference to the trial court's ruling, reversing only when the trial court ruling's was "arbitrary, fanciful or unreasonable." <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So.2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980). Courts often state that the standard of review is abuse of discretion because the issue is a "mixed question of law and fact" However, every issue in every case is a mixed question of law and facts. The abuse of discretion standard of review is properly applied to all matters that an appellate court decides should be left to the discretion of the trial court. <u>Pierce v. Underwood</u>, 487 U.S. 552, 108 S.Ct. 2541, 2545, 101 L.Ed.2d 490 (1988).

When a trial court overrules an objection to a closing argument, the standard of review is an abuse of discretion. <u>United States v.</u>

- 12 -

<u>Etsitty</u>, 130 F.3d 420, 424 (9th Cir. 1997); <u>United States v.</u> <u>Lovelace</u>, 123 F.3d 650 (7th Cir. 1997)(same).

Preservation

This issue is properly preserved for appellate review. Defense counsel contemporaneously objected to the prosecutor's comments in closing and properly obtained an adverse ruling. § 924.051(1)(b), FLA. STAT. (1997). Thus, the issue is preserved.

<u>Merits</u>

It is improper for a prosecutor to express a personal belief in the guilt of the accused. United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 84 L.Ed.2d 1 (1985) (holding that prosecutor comments, which included: "I think it's a fraud" in a mail fraud prosecution and "I don't think you're doing your job as jurors", while improper were harmless); Gore v. State, 719 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Fla. 1998) (explaining that it was improper for the prosecutor to express his personal belief about Gore's guilt); Pacifico v. State, 642 So.2d 1178, 1183 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). However, a prosecutor may properly argue that the evidence supports a guilty verdict. In Johnson v. State, 449 So. 2d 921 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), the First District held that the prosecutor's comments were merely a suggestion of the prosecutor's view that the evidence indicated quilt. The prosecutor stated: "look at the facts, put them together, and the man's guilty and that's our belief". The Johnson Court reasoned that even if the comments were viewed as an

- 13 -

expression of the prosecutor's personal opinion of the guilt of the defendant, juries will not be led astray from deciding a case on the evidence rather than the "illogical pathos of counsel" <u>Id</u>. at 925. But see Northard v. State, 675 So.2d 652 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (holding similar remarks during opening statement were error because the prosecutor's comment could have resulted in a juror voting to convict because the juror believed that Northard actually committed the crime even if the state had not met its burden of proof).

Juries are repeatedly instructed that they are to decide the case based on the evidence and that the attorneys' arguments are not evidence. In this case, the jury was instructed many times that the comments of the prosecutor were not evidence. (Vol. III 157, 283). Indeed, the prosecutor, himself, told the jury that what the attorneys say is not evidence, just a few minutes before the comments at issue were made. (Vol. III 317). The prosecutor, albeit inartfully, was attempting to argue that he believed that the jury already "figured out" that the appellant was guilty.

Harmless Error

The prosecutor's comment was harmless error. The legal test for whether a prosecutor's comments warrant a new trial is whether the comments were "so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial". If the comments do not rise to this level, then the error was harmless. <u>State v. Murray</u>, 443 So.2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984) (prosecutor's comments in opening statement while error, were

- 14 -

"not so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial" and therefore, harmless.)

In <u>Darden v. Wainwright</u>, 477 U.S. 168, 181-82, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 2471-72, 91 L.Ed.2d 144 (1986), the prosecutor's comments, while condemned by various courts, were not constitutional error because they did not deprive the Darden of a fair trial. The prosecutor's comments included calling the defendant an "animal"; expressing a personal wish for the defendant's death by saying: "I wish I could see [the defendant] sitting here with no face, blown away by a shotgun," and telling the jury that imposing the death penalty was the only way to protect society from a future similar act. The Supreme Court relied upon six factors in evaluating a due process claim arising from a prosecutor's inappropriate comments in closing argument: (1) whether the prosecutor manipulated or misstated the evidence, (2) whether the comments implicated other specific rights of the accused (such as the right to remain silent), (3) whether the comments were invited by or responsive to defense counsel's arguments, (4) whether the trial court's instructions ameliorated the harm, (5) whether the evidence weighed heavily against the defendant, and (6) whether the defendant had an opportunity to rebut the prosecutor's comments.

Applying <u>Darden</u> to the instant case, the prosecutor's comment did not misstate the evidence and defense counsel had final closing and therefore had a chance to rebut the prosecutor's comment. While the prosecutor's comment potentially impacted the burden of proof and the trial court did not give a curative instruction, the

- 15 -

error is not reversible error if the case against the defendant is substantial or overwhelming. Even when a prosecutor directly states that if the defendant was not guilty he would not have charged him with a crime, such comments are not reversible error if the evidence of guilt is substantial. Alford v. Huffman, 996 F.2d 1223 (9th Cir. 1993) (holding, in a federal habeas, that the prosecutor's comments that if Alford had acted in self-defense he would not have been charged with the crime were improper but harmless because the prosecutor's statement was an isolated event and the evidence against Alford, while not overwhelming, was substantial). Where the case against a defendant is weak or tenuous, a prosecutor's comments are not harmless error. Gore v. State, 719 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1998) (finding the prosecutor's comments not harmless because "there was no physical evidence directly linking Gore to the murder, Gore did not confess, and the State's case was circumstantial"); Pacifico v. State, 642 So.2d 1178, 1184 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). But the converse is also true. the case against the defendant is overwhelming, Where а prosecutor's improper comments would not affect the verdict.

In <u>Kent v. State</u>, 702 So.2d 265 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), the Fifth District held that the prosecutors comments were fair comments on evidence and fair responses to defense counsel's arguments. Kent claimed the prosecutor improperly asserted his personal belief that Kent was guilty and told the jurors it was their duty to convict the accused for the good of society. The prosecutor, in <u>Kent</u>, stated:

- 16 -

But, it is important that you understand the full context of these events before you allow a miscarriage of justice to occur. And make no question about it, if this man goes unanswered for what he did to that woman, it would be a miscarriage of justice.

* * * * *

The State has conviction that after you've heard these three days of testimony, that you don't have any doubt that this man did these crimes.

* * * * *

People who work in the criminal justice system constantly hear the criticism, 'The system doesn't work. The criminal justice system doesn't protect people.' I remind each and everyone of you, in this case, whether or not that man faces justice for what he did is on your shoulders. And that in fact, you yourself are the system in this case. You provide the answer. Does the system work?

Defense counsel did not object to these comments. However, the <u>Kent</u> Court held that even if the issue had been preserved, the state carried its burden to show that the error was harmless under <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla.1986). The improper prosecutorial comments were harmless because there was no dispute that the crimes took place. The only dispute was the identity of the perpetrator. The victim testified either Kent or his brother was her assailant. However, a palm print taken from the headboard of the victim's bed where the sexual battery took place matched Kent's and DNA evidence established Kent had raped her.

Here, as in <u>Kent</u>, the identity of the burglar, the appellant, was established by highly reliable scientific evidence. Appellant's fingerprints were found on a box of shells inside the ransacked nightstand inside the burglarized house. Identity was the only disputed issue at trial. There was no dispute that the

- 17 -

burglary occurred. Defense Counsel admitted that the crime occurred in both opening and closing argument. (Vol III 284). There was no issue as to consent to enter because the house was broken into and the victim did not know the appellant. Appellant did not even present a defense. (Vol. III 232-237). Appellant did not testify nor did he present any defense witnesses. The defense theory, made in support of a motion for judgment of acquittal, was that the another person committed the burglary and removed the box of cartridges from the house and then obtained the appellant's fingerprints sometime during a two hour period and returned to the scene of the crime with the box which now had appellant's fingerprints on it and replaced the box in its original drawer. (Vol. III 228-229). The error in the prosecutor's closing was harmless in light of the scientific evidence of appellant's guilt and his lack of any real defense. Thus, the prosecutor's comments were harmless error.

<u>Remedy</u>

The State acknowledges to this Court, as it did in the First District, that this particular prosecutor has caused reversible error in a prior case. <u>Cook v. State</u>, 714 So.2d 1132 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (holding that prosecutor's comment on defendant's postarrest silence was not harmless); <u>Merritt v. State</u>, 739 so.2d 735 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (finding the same prosecutor's comments in this case to be harmless error). However, the appropriate remedy for an overzealous prosecutor is to report him or her to the Florida Bar.

- 18 -

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